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Sparrows Hall, 
Lower Street,  

Stanstead, Suffolk 
 

(TL 8412 4873) 
 

An Archaeological Record 
 
This report provides a written and photographic record at English Heritage (2006) Level 2 of 
a barn and yard complex behind Sparrows Hall. The report has been prepared to a brief 
written by the Archaeological Service of Suffolk County Council (Dr Jess Tipper, 23 June 
2008, Ref. /Sparrows Hall_Stanstead2008) and is intended to fulfil a condition of planning 
permission for residential conversion and partial demolition (Babergh District Council  
application B/07/02043 & B/07/02044).    
 

Introduction  
 
The following report is accompanied by a CD containing a full photographic record in the 
form of 56 8.2 megapixel digital images (Appendix 1) but also includes printed photographs 
of key features to illustrate the text (Appendix 2). Each image is separately described in the 
report, and a white metre scale rod with centimetre sub-divisions was included wherever 
possible. The site was inspected on 11th December 2008.   
 

Summary 
 
Sparrows Hall lies at the western end of the hamlet of Stanstead Street, approximately 700 
metres south of Stanstead Hall and St James’ church. Formerly known as Sparrows Farm, the 
grade II-listed 17th century house formed a smallholding of 49 acres in 1838 but the house and 
land were let separately by their owner. The site is now part of a modern ribbon development, 
and the barn complex behind the house is used as stabling. The barn is a typical mid-19th 
century timber-framed and weatherboarded structure of three bays on a tall flint and brick 
plinth with an integral lean-to porch and shed to the south. A small neathouse and open-sided 
cattle shelter were added to its south-western corner at a slightly later date, along with a 
second shelter shed facing the northern paddock, and a large brick and flint vehicle shed was 
built against its eastern gable. The resulting complex formed a self-contained cattle unit of 
modest proportions and mixed traditional materials that illustrates the lower end of the mid-
Victorian agricultural revolution (in contrast to the architect-designed ‘model farms’ built at 
the same time by local gentleman farmers). Despite these points of historic and aesthetic 
interest, the buildings are not of sufficient age or rarity to merit listing in their own right.   
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 Figure 1  

Existing Ordnance Survey Site Plan  
Showing the barn complex to the north of ‘Sparrows Farm’, with Lower Street to the 

south, but omitting the southern shelter shed  
© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Suffolk County Council Licence No. 100023395 2008 

 
Historic Context: Documentary & Cartographic Record 
 
Sparrows Hall lies on the northern side of Lower Street, which forms a hamlet on the main 
road between Long Melford and Hartest in the valley of the River Glem. The hamlet is 
marked as Stanstead Street on the Ordnance Survey of 1885, and lies at the foot of a gentle 
slope rising towards the parish church and Stanstead Hall approximately 700 metres to the 
north. The property is shown as an isolated farmstead in open countryside on 19th century 
maps, but now forms part of a ribbon development of 20th century housing.  
 
The timber-framed and rendered house is listed at grade II as Sparrows Farmhouse, and the 
name Sparrows Hall appears to be modern. The building is dated in the Schedule to the 17th 
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century, but is of 18th century external appearance. The house is shown on the tithe map of 
1838 with its present rectangular profile, but another structure projects towards the road 
frontage from its south-western corner (figure 2). This may have formed a detached 
bakehouse. A rectangular outbuilding is shown to the rear, but this almost certainly represents 
an earlier barn which was replaced by the present structure soon afterwards.  
 

 
Figure 2 

The site in 1838, redrawn from the Stanstead tithe map (Suffolk Record Office) 
The house is shown parallel with the road to the right, with an additional front range 

that has since been demolished. An earlier rectangular barn lies on the site of the 
existing barn to the rear 

 
The accompanying apportionment names the owner of the ‘house and garden’ (no.267 in 
figure 1) as William Bacon Wigson. Wigson also owned the ‘barn and yard’ (268) together 
with a modest holding of 49 acres, but he was evidently an absentee landlord as both the 
house and barn were let separately. The house and garden were occupied by John French and 
the barn and land by Henry Murton, who lived elsewhere. The field to the north of the barn 
(238) was named simply as ‘pightle’ (i.e. an enclosed pasture). 
 

 
 

Figure 3 
The first edition 25 inch Ordnance Survey of 1885, showing the existing barn complex 
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The outline of the existing barn complex is clearly recognisable on the first edition Ordnance 
Survey of 1885, with the narrower shelter shed visible to the left (no.4 in figure 5). An 
enclosed cattle yard adjoined its south-western elevation, defined by the shelter shed (5) to the 
west. A pond is shown behind the house, but its south-western wing had been demolished – 
probably as part of a major refurbishment which included the rebuilding of the barn. Many 
local farmyards were rebuilt in the same manner during the 1850s and 1860s in response to 
the need for new cattle accommodation. The artificially high price of grain during and after 
the Napoleonic wars stimulated cereal production, but farmers were forced to diversify into 
mixed animal husbandry following the repeal of the Corn Laws in 1846. This process was 
intensified by the arrival of the railways, which opened up new urban markets for beef and 
dairy produce.  
 

 
 

Figure 4  
Second edition 25 inch Ordnance Survey of 1905, showing the layout of 1885 in more 

detail. 
 
The layout of the new complex is shown more clearly on the second edition Ordnance Survey 
of 1905, which uses broken lines to indicate open-sided structures such as animal shelter 
sheds. The northern elevation of the shed adjoining the barn’s western gable is shown in this 
way (4a) as is the southern shed (5) and the lean-to adjoining the axial eastern shed (7). The 
yard is sub-divided into three small areas, typically to separate calves from the dairy herd. An 
enclosed shed at the southern end of the long shelter shed (5) no longer survives, and two 
lean-to sheds have been added to the barn’s northern elevation (8), but the complex is 
otherwise intact. No change is shown on the third edition Ordnance Survey of 1926. 
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Building Analysis 
 

 
 

Figure 5 
Schematic block plan of historic buildings and units, numbering each  

for ease of reference in the text and photographic record 
 
Key 
 

1. Timber-framed and weatherboarded barn of three bays on a tall plinth of flint 
and red brick, with main entrance in central bay to north and integral lean-to 
porch with smaller yard door to south. Pantiled. Mid-19th century.  

2. Timber-framed lean-to shed in western return of porch. Probably a loose box. 
Corrugated iron roof. Mid-19th century. 

3. Brick and flint lean-to shed in eastern angle of integral porch. Probably a loose 
box.  

4. Pair of sheds formed by a brick axial wall with timber lean-tos to north and 
south. The northern shed an open shelter (4a) and the southern enclosed to form 
a neathouse (cowshed). Corrugated iron roof to south, pantiles to north. Mid-
19th century but secondary to barn. 
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5. Narrow, open-sided shelter shed, extended to east in 20th century. Pantiled. Mid-
19th century  

6. Brick and flint vehicle shed with wide entrance doors in eastern gable. Pantiled. 
Mid-19th century but secondary to barn. 

7. Timber-framed and weatherboarded lean-to shed, now enclosed but formerly 
open-sided to south. Pantiled. Mid-19th century. 

8. A pair of boarded lean-to animal sheds against northern elevation of barn, 
entered from the paddock and probably designed as stabling. Pantiled. Late-20th 
century.  

 
 
The outbuildings at Sparrows Hall form a mid-19th century complex of cattle sheds and 
shelters attached to a barn that probably operated principally as a feed store and milling 
area in the usual manner of the period. The various units do not appear to represent a single 
phase of construction, and the complex probably evolved by piecemeal addition over a period 
of no more than a decade or two. The whole extends to 23.5 metres in length from west to east 
(77.5 ft) and 21 metres from north to south (omitting the 20th century lean-to sheds to the 
north of the barn (nos. 8a & b in figure 5). 
 
Barn and South-eastern Lean-to (1 & 3) 
The barn is aligned on an east-west axis and divides a grass paddock to the north from the 
yard behind the farmhouse to the south. It extends to 10.8 metres in length by 5.5 metres in 
overall width (35.5 ft by 18) and rises to 4.3 metres at its eaves (14 ft) including a tall flint 
and red-brick plinth of 1.5 metres (5 ft). It contains three bays divided by knee-braced tie-
beams and its low-pitched clasped-purlin roof structure of machine-sawn softwood is covered 
with unglazed pantiles. The walls contain diagonal braces which are primary to the structure, 
interrupting the nailed vertical studs, and include a high proportion of re-used timber. This 
timber originated in one or more structures of the 17th century or earlier which possessed 
diamond-mullion windows, and may derive either from the earlier barn on the site or the 
southern wing of the farmhouse (as shown in figure 2), or from both. The roof-plates contain 
face-halved scarf joints, and include primary softwood as well as re-used material. The 
narrow central bay of 3 metres (10 ft) contains evidence of an original entrance to the north, 
now reduced in scale but initially extending the full height of the structure, and a lean-to 
porch of 3.3 metres (11 ft) with a smaller door to the south. This porch is fully integral with 
the structure, as is a lean-to brick and flint shed in its eastern return (3). The shed contains a 
half-hung southern entrance door and window, and probably operated as a loose box for 
cattle. The timber-framed walls are clad in boarding which is stained but not tarred and 
appears to have been largely renewed. These several features indicate a date of construction in 
the mid-19th century (probably in the 1850s or 1860s), and this is confirmed by the 
cartographic evidence cited above.  
 
The Western Cattle Buildings (2, 4 & 5) 
The barn’s western gable is adjoined by an axial shed with a central brick partition dividing 
an open-sided shelter to the north (4a) from an enclosed shed to the south (4b). A scar on the 
same gable suggests the former is a reconstruction of an earlier, narrower shed that may have 
been contemporary with the barn. The southern shed opened onto an enclosed yard in the 19th 
century (as shown on the Ordnance Surveys above) and is typical of small neathouses (cow 
sheds) elsewhere.  The structure extends to 6 metres in length at its maximum extent (20 ft), 
but reduces towards the south as it is curtailed by an irregular property boundary. The 
neathouse is adjoined on the south by a shelter shed (5) of 3 metres in width and 12 metres in 
length (10 ft by 40) which was extended to the east in the 20th century. The arcade posts of 
this shed have been renewed, but it retains its roof covering of pantiles, as does the northern 
shelter shed (4a), while the southern shed is now covered with corrugated iron. The southern 
roof appears to be integral with that of a timber-framed lean-to in the western angle of the 
barn’s porch (2), to which it is linked by an internal door. The fabric and roof pitch of this 
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structure is not consistent with that of its neighbour the east (3) and indicates the complex was 
not designed as a single entity. No original fixtures or fittings survive, although a 20th century 
concrete partition forms a pair of cattle stalls in the southern shed (4b).  
 
Eastern and Northern Sheds (6-8)  
A flint shed with red-brick dressings extends by 6.7 metres (22 ft) from the eastern gable of 
the barn, and rises to 2.4 metres at its eaves (8 ft). This structure is entirely open to its eastern 
gable, and probably formed a vehicle shed. Its fabric abuts the weatherboarding of the barn 
and evidently post-dates it. A timber-framed lean-to extends from the shed’s southern 
elevation and originally formed an open-sided equipment or animal shelter (as shown in 
figure 4) but is now enclosed and operates as a wood shed. Both structures are pantiled in 
uniformity with the barn. A pair of 20th century timber sheds project from the barn’s northern 
elevation and relate to the building’s conversion into stabling for horses. Metal stalls have 
been built into both outer bays of the barn.  
 
Historic Significance 
The mid-19th century barn and its associated sheds formed a sophisticated cattle complex 
adjacent to a series of enclosed cattle yards that have since disappeared. Similar complexes 
were built on many local farms at the same period, but this example is unusually small, 
reflecting the modest size of the holding (just 49 acres in 1838), and is of historic interest for 
this reason. Unlike the extensive ‘model farms’ of larger establishments, which were built to 
uniform designs, this appears to have evolved with several piecemeal additions over a number 
of years. Despite this point of interest, the buildings are not of sufficient age, rarity or 
architectural significance to merit listing in their own right.   
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Appendix 1 (on accompanying CD): Full Photographic Record 
 
 
Description of Photographs in Appendix 1 
 
Photograph no. 
 

1. General view of Lower Street from west showing Sparrows Hall on left.  
 

2. Entrance to site from Lower Street to south showing barn in rear to left and 
Sparrows Hall right.  

 
3. Exterior of Sparrows Hall from site entrance to south-west (included for site 

context). 
 

4. Rear elevation of Sparrows Hall from barn to north showing site entrance to right. 
 

5. General view of barn complex from Sparrows Hall to south. 
 

6. General view of barn complex from southern entrance to site. 
 

7. General view of site from paddock to north-east showing Sparrows Hall in rear to 
left. 

 
8. Exterior from north showing shelter shed (4a) right and vehicle shed (6) left. 

 
9. Exterior from east showing vehicle shed (6) in foreground. 

 
10. Exterior from south-east showing entrance to vehicle shed (6) to right. 

 
11. Exterior from north-west showing shelter shed (4a) right. 

 
12. Exterior of western gable of barn showing shelter shed (4a) right and modern 

shed (8a) left. 
 

13. Northern external elevation of shelter shed (4a) showing barn to left. 
 

14. Interior of shelter shed (4a) showing scar of earlier lean-to against western gable 
of barn. 

 
15. Interior of shelter shed (4a) from east showing axial wall to left. 

 
16. Northern external elevation of barn from shed (8b) showing tall flint plinth. 

 
17. Northern external elevation of flint and brick vehicle shed (6). 

 
18. External northern junction of vehicle shed (6) left and eastern gable of barn to 

right. 
 

19. Interior of vehicle shed (6) from eastern entrance. 
 

20. Eastern external gable of barn from vehicle shed (6). 
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21. Roof structure of vehicle shed (6) from east showing boarded external gable of 
barn. 

 
22. Eastern entrance to vehicle shed (6) showing door of southern lean-to (7) left. 

 
23. Interior of lean-to (7) from east showing southern elevation of vehicle shed (6) 

right. 
 

24. Exterior of lean-to shed (7) from south-east showing southern entrance to left. 
 

25. Interior of lean-to shed (7) showing eastern wall of lean-to shed (3) to left. 
 

26. Exterior of lean-to shed (3) from south-east showing entrance door in centre. 
 

27. Interior of lean-to shed (3) from south showing southern elevation of barn with 
porch to left. 

 
28. Southern external elevation of barn showing lean-to sheds (2 & 3) flanking lean-

to porch. 
 

29. Exterior of southern shelter shed (5) from south-east showing 20th century 
extension in foreground. 

 
30. Exterior of lean-to shed (2) from south showing porch to right & shelter shed (5) 

to left. 
 

31. Southern end of shelter shed (5) from 20th century extension to north-east. 
 

32. Interior of shelter shed (5) from north showing arcade posts to left. 
 

33. Detail of arcade post from interior of shelter shed (5). 
 

34. Interior of shelter shed (5) from south showing southern elevation of shed (4b). 
 

35. Southern external elevation of shed (4b) from extension to shelter shed showing 
door to right. 

 
36. Interior of shed (4b) from east showing cattle stall with passage to left. 

 
37. Interior of shed (4b) showing western elevation and axial wall to right. 

 
38. Interior of shed (4b) from west showing cattle stalls with door to shed (2) in rear. 

 
39. Interior of shed (4b) showing axial wall and stall partition from south-west. 

 
40. Interior of shed (4b) showing axial wall to left and boarded southern elevation of 

barn to right. 
 

41. Interior of shed (2) from south showing southern elevation of barn & partition to 
shed (4b) left. 

 
42. Interior of shed (2) from west showing western elevation of porch with barn to 

left. 
 

43. Interior of southern porch from barn to north. 
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44. Interior of barn showing roof structure of central bay and southern porch. 

 
45. Detail of bolted knee-brace and face-halved scarf in pine roof-plate of barn 

showing porch to left. 
 

46. Interior of central bay of barn showing original northern entrance. 
 

47. Eastern internal elevation of barn porch showing integral plinth. 
 

48. Western internal elevation of barn porch showing southern yard door to left. 
 

49. Detail of pegged mortises in re-used roof-plate of central northern bay of barn. 
 

50. Interior of barn from west showing clasped-purlin roof structure. 
 

51. Interior of western gable of barn showing primary diagonal bracing. 
 

52. Interior of southern elevation of eastern bay of barn, showing re-use of timber. 
 

53. Interior of eastern gable of barn showing re-use of timber. 
 

54. Interior of southern elevation of western bay of barn, showing porch to left. 
 

55. Interior of northern elevation of eastern bay of barn. 
 

56. Interior of northern elevation of western bay of barn. 
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Appendix 2 (pp. 12-15): Selected Printed Photographs 
  

 
 

A2.1   Entrance to site from Lower Street to south showing barn in rear to left and 
Sparrows Hall right 

 

 
 

A2.2   General view of barn complex from Sparrows Hall to south, showing gravel yard with 
vehicle shed (6) to right and lean-to shed (4b) to left    
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A2.3   Exterior of complex from paddock to north showing barn in centre with shelter 
shed (4a) right and vehicle shed (6) left 

 

 
 

A2.4  Northern external elevation of shelter shed (4a) showing barn to left 
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A2.5   Barn complex from south-east showing entrance to vehicle shed (6) to right and 
lean-to porch of barn to left 

 

 
 

A2.6   Southern external elevation of lean-to shed (4b) seen from the 20th century extension to 
the southern shelter shed (5) showing its entrance door to right  
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A2.7  Interior of barn showing entrance to contemporary central lean-to porch from north, 
showing modern stabling to left and right.  

 

 
 

A2.8    Interior of eastern gable of barn showing primary diagonal bracing and re-use of 
timber (note empty diamond mullion mortises to bottom left) 
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